IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.SC05-1249

LAWRENCE TIMOTHY REID,

Petitioner,

-vs-

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

MARISA TINKLER MENDEZ, P.A.
MARISA TINKLER MENDEZ, ESQ.
901 Ponce deLeon Blvd.
Suite 304
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Florida Bar No. 586455
(305) 444-3747

Counsel for Lawrence Timothy Reid
Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On the evening of May 7, 2003, at approximately 10:30 p.m. Broward Sheriff Deputy Samuel R. Sirico saw a grey Saab drive into the quiet, residential area of 433 S.W. 2nd Court in Pompano Beach, turn onto S.W. 2nd Court and pull into the parking lot/driveway at 437 S.W. 2nd Court. The SAAB parked briefly and then properly backed out onto S.W. 2nd Court. After backing out of the parking lot area into the swale, the Saab stopped briefly in the street facing the correct direction and on the correct side of the street.

During the time the Saab was briefly standing in the street, Sirico

claimed that a single vehicle drove down the street and had to “drive around” the Saab. He explained that this vehicle had a clear and unobstructed path past the Saab, with no opposing traffic. The vehicle maintained its same speed as it easily drove by the Saab. There was no traffic in the neighborhood, and no other vehicles driving down that street.

Sirico then decided to follow the grey Saab as it drove out of the residential area, at a lawful speed, and followed the vehicle for nearly two miles. During the time he followed the Saab he did not see any traffic infractions committed, did not see the driver make any furtive or suspicious movements, or otherwise drive improperly. Sirico also “ran” the license plate and determined that there were no problems with the plate or vehicle. Obviously having no fear or concern whatsoever for his safety, Sirico decided to make a traffic stop without any back up or assistance. When the SAAB was stopped, Sirico noted that the driver was the only person in the car. He asked the driver for his license and registration, and Mr. Reid immediately complied. Sirico found Mr. Reid to be pleasant, cooperative, calm and forthright. Mr. Reid stayed in the car while Sirico ran the license. Some time then passed, and Sirico returned to the driver’s side of the car. Sirico did not find any warrants or other problems with the license. However, instead of issuing a traffic citation, which Sirico claimed was for

obstructing traffic, he ordered Mr. Reid from the car. The “order” was given before any other officer arrived at the location.

Sirico claimed that, after Mr. Reid got out of his car, Sirico looked inside of the car and saw one or two pieces of something that he was “fairly certain”, but was not positive, was cocaine. He claimed that the pieces were on the “flat” part of the driver’s front seat. He said he left the objects on the seat to allow his partner and trainee, Deputy Newell-Martinez, the opportunity to search the car. Upon arrival, Newell-Martinez spent some time searching the vehicle, yet, never saw anything on the driver’s seat.

During the subsequent suppression hearing, the Circuit Court Judge specifically found that there was *no evidence that any drug transaction had occurred on the night of May 7, 2003 involving Mr. Reid, and, but for the alleged traffic infraction, there was no basis to stop Mr. Reid.* Moreover, the Court found that the entire case turned on the validity of the traffic stop and whether or not the obstruction of traffic citation was lawfully issued, and there was no evidence to show that Mr. Reid’s conduct was willful or that he willfully intend to obstruct traffic. An appeal followed, and the order denying the motion to suppress was affirmed with opinion. (App. Exh. A)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioner seeks discretionary review from this Court. The lower

court's decision that Petitioner was lawfully stopped for the traffic infraction of obstructing traffic, Fla. Stat. sec. 316.2045 was erroneous since Petitioner's conduct was not willful, and the Court misapplied existing law requiring proof that Petitioner willfully intended to impede or obstruct the normal flow of traffic.

Further review is sought since the court below misapplied existing law that, for a Fourth Amendment intrusion, which is, to order a traffic offender from his vehicle, there must be some *real, apparent and articulable concern for the police officer's safety*.

Finally, the court below applied an erroneous "plain view" analysis of the search in this case instead of the "open view" analysis, which requires a warrant when a search is conducted pursuant to a traffic infraction, unless contraband is *immediately* apparent or exigent circumstances exist.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's Decision is in Direct conflict with the District Court's Decisions in Jones v. State, 842 So.2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) and Metropolitan Dade County v. The State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 714 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), since it ignores the statutory requirement of proof that the offense conduct was willful

The Fourth District has incorrectly interpreted Florida Statute section 316.2045, the obstruction of traffic statute, resulting in an erroneous finding

that the Mr. Reid's driving conduct established the offense. The Court below has misinterpreted the term "willful" or "willful intent", and the Fourth District's decision conflicts with the decisions in Jones v. State, 842 So.2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) and Metropolitan Dade County v. The State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 714 So.2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), as well as an earlier decision in the Fourth District in Thunderbird Drive-In Theatre, Inc. v. Reed, 571 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Florida Statute §316.2045, the obstruction of traffic statute provides in pertinent part:

- (1) It is unlawful for any person or persons willfully to obstruct the free, convenient, and normal use of any public street, highway, or road by impeding, hindering, stifling, retarding, or restraining traffic or passage thereon...

In Thunderbird Drive-In Theatre, Inc. v. Reed, *supra*, the Fourth District Court found that the statute's use of the word "willfully" required that there be an intentional act of an unreasonable character, that disregards a known or obvious risk of such magnitude as to render it probable that harm would result. The lower court here, however, refused to correctly apply the statute and ignored the statutory requirement of showing

specific willful intent.¹

In Metropolitan Dade County v. The State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 714 So.2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the Third District engaged in an evaluation of the term “willful” in the context of an FDEP statute. Relying on the definition of “willful violation” in Thunderbird, which, in turn, had relied on the Prosser & Keeton Handbook of the Law of Torts, the Third District Court concluded that the usual meaning of the term “willful...is that the actor has intentionally done an act of an unreasonable character in disregard of a known or obvious risk that was so great as to make it highly probable that harm would follow....”

The Third District Court referring further to the Black’s Law Dictionary definition of the term “willful”, which provides “willful” as:

[A]n act or omission is ‘willfully’ done, if done voluntarily and intentionally and with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey or to disregard the law.

Black’s Law Dictionary 1434 (5th ed. 1979). See also Jones v. State, *supra*.

Since the lower court here refused to apply the correct definition of

¹ The trial judge actually stated that he could not find that Mr. Reid acted willfully—that is with “specific intent to impede or hinder traffic.[Tr.294]

the term “willful” to the conduct in this case, the court erroneously concluded that Mr. Reid’s conduct amounted to a violation of the obstruction of traffic statute. The Court below neglected to require that a “willful intent” to impede or hinder the free flow of traffic rather than just the “intent” to impede or hinder the free flow of traffic had to be shown to result in a violation of the statute. The Fourth District in this case required much less as far as the intent element of the offense than other Court’s of appeal, resulting in a conflict in the District Courts. See, e.g. Jones, supra.; Metropolitan Dade County. Finally, the facts of this case do not establish a violation of the obstruction of traffic statute. There was no willful interference with or obstruction or impeding of any traffic, and the Appellate Court neglected to apply the proper definition of the term willful resulting in a decision that conflicts with other appellate court decisions and also an internal conflict.

II.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal’s Decision is in Direct and Express Conflict with the Third District Court’s Decision in R.H. v. State of Florida, 671 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), and further mis-interprets the United States Supreme Court Decision of Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977), since it erroneously approves an unconstitutional detention and search, violating the Petitioner’s Fourth Amendment

To justify a Fourth Amendment intrusion to remove an individual from a vehicle following a *lawful* traffic stop, there must be some real,

apparent and articulable concern for the police officer's safety. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977); See R.H. v. State of Florida, 671 So.2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). There are, however, limits to the intrusion, as exemplified by what occurred in R.H., supra., since an order to exit a vehicle, although *de minimis* is a Fourth Amendment seizure. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, supra.

The Fourth District in this case misinterpreted the Supreme Court's holding in Mimms, resulting in a misapplication of the existing law. There must be more than "general" safety concerns for the officer to order a traffic offender out of his car. The Fourth District minimized the legal requirements in order to validate the unlawful seizure that occurred in this case. Deputy Sirico had absolutely no concern for his safety at any point during the entire encounter. This was clear from his conduct and the facts of the case. More important, however, is that the Court of Appeal refused to acknowledge and apply the correct legal and constitutional standard for determining whether or not Sirico's conduct, in ordering Mr. Reid from the vehicle, was proper. R.H. v. State, supra; L.W. v. State, 538 So.2d 523 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

III.

The Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is in Direct Conflict with Ensor v. State, 403 So. 2d 349 (FLA. 1981), Jordan v. State, 664 So.2d 275 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), Doctor v. State, 596 So.2d 275 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) and Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925) in that it

mis-applied existing law for open view searches as opposed to plain view searches

The review of the legality of the search conducted in this case was erroneously made under the “plain view” standard instead of the “open view” standard. In the case of a traffic stop, the police must obtain a warrant to search the vehicle unless contraband is *immediately apparent*, or exigent circumstances exist, which would then authorize a search of the vehicle under the plain view doctrine. See e.g. Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925). The legal analysis of the District Court of Appeal in this case was fatally flawed and in conflict with this Court’s decision in Ensor v. State of Florida, 403 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1981) The Court of Appeal confused the terms “plain view” and “open view” in concluding that the police officer lawfully seized the cocaine after discovering it in *plain view* when Mr. Reid was ordered out of his vehicle. The plain view doctrine, however,

“...[r]efers exclusively to the legal justification [of] the reasonableness for the seizure of evidence which has not been particularly described in a warrant and which is inadvertently spotted in the course of a constitutional search....but, where the vantage point from which the “plain view” is made is not within a constitutionally protected area, the language to use is “open view”.

In this case the incriminating nature or character of the evidence was not readily or immediately apparent at the time of the stop. Doctor v. State, 596So.2d 442(Fla. 1992);Jordan v. State, 664 So. 2d 275(Fla. 5th DCA 1995)

CONCLUSION

The Petitioner urges this Court to accept discretionary review of this case, based on direct and irreconcilable with decisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, other District Courts of Appeal and of the United States Supreme Court.