IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SC CASE NO. SC05-1249

DCA CASE NO. 4D04-1092

LAWRENCE TIMOTHY REID,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.

Attorney General

Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENCE

Assistant Attorney General

Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach

Florida Bar No. 656879

MYRA J. FRIED

Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 0879487

1515 N. Flagler Drive

Suite 900

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

Telephone: (561) 837-5000

Fax: (561) 837-5099

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Petitioner was the Appellant and Respondent was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State. In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent generally accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts as set forth in his brief on jurisdiction for purposes of this Court's decision on whether to accept or decline jurisdiction in this case.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction to review the instant case because the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with the decisions of this Court, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, other District Courts of Appeal or the United States Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I (RESTATED)

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS NOT IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH JONES V. STATE, 842 SO. 2D 889 (FLA. 2D DCA 2003); METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY V. FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, 714 SO. 2D 512 (FLA. 3D DCA 1998); AND THUNDERBIRD DRIVE-IN THEATRE, INC. V. REED, 571 SO. 2D 1341 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1990).

Petitioner alleges that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case, Reid v. State, 898 So. 2d 248(Fla. 4th DCA 2005), directly conflicts with Jones v. State, 842 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), Metropolitan Dade County v. Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 714 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), and Thunderbird Drive-In Theatre, Inc. v. Reed, 571 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Respondent disagrees.

It is well settled that in order to establish conflict jurisdiction, the decision sought to be reviewed must expressly and directly create a conflict with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. Article 5, Section 3(b)(3) Fla. Const.; Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). This Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(iv) to review the instant case.

In order for two decisions to be in express and direct conflict for the purpose of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, the decisions should speak to the same point of law, in factual contexts of sufficient similarity to permit the inference that the result in each case would have been different had the deciding court employed the reasoning of the other court as mandatory authority. See generally Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980); Mancini v. State, 312 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1975). The conflict must be of such magnitude that if both decisions were rendered by the same court, the later decision would have the effect of overruling the earlier decision. Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962). However, "[if] the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then conflict cannot arise." Id. at 887. "Obviously two cases can not be in conflict if they can be validly distinguished." Morningstar v. State, 405 So. 2d 778, 783 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), Anstead J. concurring, affirmed, 428 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 1982). See also Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling Services, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986)("inherent or so called 'implied' conflict may no longer serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction.").

The decision in this case **does not** directly and expressly conflict with Petitioner's cases. Those cases are factually distinguishable from this case. In Jones, the appellate court reversed an order denying Jones's motion to suppress. Id. The deputy testified that he saw Jones on horseback riding at a full speed gallop down the street. The deputy did not see Jones actually impede traffic or endanger anyone. The deputy stopped Jones for failing to have lights or reflectors and for operating without regard for public safety. After the stop, Jones dismounted, took off his jacket, and dropped it on the ground. Jones had a rifle on his saddle. When the deputy asked Jones whether he had any other weapons on him, Jones lifted his pants leg to reveal a knife. Jones had a crack pipe in his jacket. Id.

In Metropolitan Dade County, the county appealed an order of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) approving the eligibility of Sekoff Investments, Inc. (Sekoff), to participate in the Florida Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Program. FDEP granted Sekoff eligibility to participate in the program. The county petitioned FDEP for an administrative hearing to contest Sekoff's eligibility. The hearing officer recommended that Sekoff be found eligible to participate in the program. The appellate court affirmed.

In Thunderbird, Thunderbird Drive-in Theatre, Inc. and Florida Drive-In Theatre Management, Inc. (Theatre) appealed from a final judgment and order taxing costs arising out of a suit for personal injuries resulting from a motor vehicle accident. There, a motorcycle collided with a pickup truck near the entrance to the Thunderbird Drive-in Theatre. The driver of the motorcycle was severely injured. The motorcyclist contended at trial, inter alia, that the Theatre was negligent in the design and maintenance of the entrance to the theatre and that the resulting traffic congestion on Sunrise Boulevard without hiring any police personnel to improve traffic flow constituted a violation of section 316.2045(1), Florida Statutes. Id.

In the instant case, Petitioner parked his car in the road near an intersection and caused another vehicle to drive around his car, thus actually impeding the flow of traffic. Reid v. State, supra. The police officer lawfully seized cocaine after discovering it in plain view when Petitioner was ordered out of his car during the course of the lawful traffic stop for obstructing traffic. Id. Thus, the facts of the case at bar, are completely different from the facts of Jones, where Jones was seen riding his horse in the street, but was not seen to impede traffic; Metropolitan Dade County, which is a civil, administrative case dealing with the Florida Drycleaning

Contamination Cleanup Program; and Thunderbird Drive-in Theatre, which is a civil personal injury case. Thus, Petitioner's cases do not expressly and directly conflict with the instant case.

POINT II (RESTATED)

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S
DECISION IS NOT A DIRECT AND EXPRESS
CONFLICT WITH R.H. V. STATE, 671 SO. 2D 871
(FLA.3D DCA 1996), AND PENNSYLVANIA V.
MIMMS, 434 U.S. 106 (1977).

Petitioner also claims that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision is in direct and express conflict with R.H. v. State, 671 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), and Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977). Respondent disagrees.

In R.H., R.H. was a passenger in a vehicle stopped by an officer for going through a stop sign. The officer gave the driver a warning about the stop sign offense and a citation for violating a driver's license glasses requirement. During this process, R.H. continued to mouth off at the officer. The officer finally ordered R.H. out of the car. As R.H. got out in response to the command, he dropped a clear plastic bag of cocaine. R.H. pled nolo to possession. Id.

In Mimms, after police stopped Mimms's car for being operated with an expired license plate, one officer asked Mimms to step out of the car and produce his license and registration. As Mimms got out, a large bulge under his jacket was noticed by

the officer, who then frisked Mimms and found a loaded revolver. Mimms was indicted for carrying a concealed weapon and unlicensed firearm.

Here, Petitioner parked his car in the road near an intersection and caused another vehicle to drive around it, thus impeding the flow of traffic. Thus, the officer lawfully ordered Petitioner out of the car. Also, Reid was the driver and not a passenger. This case is factually distinguishable.

POINT III (RESTATED)

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS NOT IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH ENSOR V. STATE, 403 SO. 2D 349 (FLA. 1981), JORDAN V. STATE, 664 SO. 2D 275 (FLA. 5TH DCA 1995)¹, DOCTOR V. STATE, 596 SO. 2D 442 (FLA. 1992) AND CARROLL V. UNITED STATES, 267 U.S. 132 (1925).

Petitioner alleges that Reid also conflicts with Ensor v. State, 403 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 1981), Doctor v. State, 596 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992), and Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925). Respondent disagrees. In Ensor, officers spotted a car exiting a parking lot following some motorcycles. The car proceeded ten blocks without its headlights on. The officers

¹Undersigned counsel has been unable to find the case of Jordan v. State, 664 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), as cited in Petitioner's brief on page 8. Apparently, this case as cited does not exist. Undersigned counsel has contacted Petitioner's counsel in this matter, but the correct case citation was never determined. Therefore, Respondent will be unable to address Petitioner's claim as to Jordan v. State.

signaled the car to pull over. The car proceeded another two blocks before stopping. The officers pulled behind it and instructed the occupants to step out. Ensor was the passenger. One officer saw a part of a white object protruding from under the passenger floor mat. The officer determined the object to be a pistol and retrieved it. Ensor was charged with carrying a concealed weapon.

In Doctor, an unmarked scout vehicle passed a vehicle owned by Doctor and in which he was a passenger. Five miles down the road, a highway patrol cruiser stopped Doctor's vehicle, citing a broken taillight. Id. Because the windows were heavily tinted, the trooper asked the occupants to exit the car, and as Doctor exited the car, he attempted to hide the front of his body by walking sideways. Id. The trooper then noticed a bulge in Doctor's groin area approximately eight inches long by four inches wide. The trooper alerted another deputy, who also saw the bulge and thought it might be a weapon. The deputy placed Doctor against his car and told him to remove whatever was in his pants. Id. When Doctor failed to comply, the deputy performed a pat-down and realized the bulge was not a weapon. Instead, he felt what he believed to be cocaine. Id.

In Carroll, the defendants were indicted and convicted for transporting in a car whiskey and gin, in violation of the

National Prohibition Act. The defendants alleged that the two bottles found in their car after a search violated the Fourth Amendment. Id. The Supreme Court held that the agents had ample reason to believe defendants' vehicle contained illegal liquor because the defendants were known to transport liquor in that vehicle, were recognized by the agents, and were on a route known for illegal liquor traffic. Those circumstances provided sufficient probable cause to search the vehicle. Id.

Ensor, Doctor, and Carroll are factually distinguishable from the case at bar. Petitioner parked his car in the road near an intersection and caused another vehicle to drive around Petitioner's car, thus actually impeding the flow of traffic. It was thus lawful for the officer to order Petitioner out of the car. Also, Reid was the driver and not a passenger. Reid, supra. Thus, the facts in the instant case are distinguishable from Ensor, Doctor, and Carroll.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Court to DECLINE to accept jurisdiction to review the instant case.